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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

AUSTIN DIVISION 
 

JOHN LYNCH and DAXTON 
HARTSFIELD, individually and on 
behalf of all others similarly situated, 

 
Plaintiffs, 

 
v. 
 
TESLA, INC. 
 

Defendant. 

  
 

No.    

 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

John Lynch and Daxton Hartsfield, individually and on behalf of all others similarly 

situated, file this Class Action Complaint against Defendant Tesla, Inc. (“Tesla”) for violating the 

Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2101 et sq. (the “WARN Act”) 

by terminating Plaintiffs and Class Members without providing sufficient (or any) advance written 

notice.  

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Tesla has violated the WARN Act by terminating Plaintiffs and similarly situated 

individuals (the “Class Members”) without advance or written notice.  

2. Pursuant to the WARN Act, Tesla is required to provide Plaintiffs and Class 

Members with the required sixty (60) days advance written notice of a mass layoff. However, in 

connection with the recent mass layoffs, Tesla has not provided written notice, or advance notice, 

to Plaintiffs and the “Class Members” prior to terminating their employment.  

3. Plaintiffs and the Class Members were employees of Tesla who have been 
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terminated without cause on their part as a part of mass layoffs beginning in approximately May or 

June of 2022.  

4. Tesla has failed to give Plaintiffs and the Class Members any advance written notice 

of their terminations. Instead, Tesla has simply notified the employees that their terminations 

would be effective immediately. Tesla has also failed to provide a statement of the basis for 

reducing the notification period to zero days advance notice. 

5. Tesla’s failure to provide its employees with any advance written notice has had a 

devastating economic impact on Plaintiffs and the Class Members. 

6. As a consequence, Plaintiffs and the Class Members are entitled under the WARN 

Act to recover from Tesla their respective compensation and benefits for sixty (60) days.  

7. Specifically, Plaintiffs seek to certify the following class defined as:  

All former Tesla employees throughout the United States who have 

not been given a minimum of sixty (60) days written notice of 

termination and whose employment has been terminated as a result of 

a “mass layoff” or “plant closing,” as defined by the Workers 

Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act of 1988, beginning in 

approximately May or June of 2022 

8. Accordingly, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and on behalf of the Class 

Members, seek recovery of damages in the amount of sixty (60) days’ compensation and benefits 

for each of them by reason of Tesla’s violation of their rights under the WARN Act.  

II. PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff John Lynch is an adult resident of Nevada. Until his layoff, Plaintiff Lynch 

worked as an employee of Tesla at its Sparks, Nevada Gigafactory. Lynch is an “aggrieved 

employee” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(7). 

10. Plaintiff Daxton Hartsfield is an adult resident of Nevada. Until his layoff, Plaintiff 
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Hartsfield worked as an employee of Tesla at its Sparks, Nevada Gigafactory. Hartsfield is an 

“aggrieved employee” within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(7). 

11. Plaintiffs bring this lawsuit as a Rule 23 class action on behalf of the Class Members. 

The Class Members consist of all former Tesla employees throughout the United States who have 

not been given a minimum of sixty (60) days’ written notice of termination and whose employment 

was terminated in “mass layoffs” or “plant closings,” as defined by the Workers Adjustment and 

Retraining Notification Act of 1988, beginning in May or June of 2022.   

12. At all relevant times, Tesla has been a business authorized to conduct business in 

the State of Texas. Tesla’s principal place of business is 13101 Harold Green Road, Austin, Texas 

78725. Tesla is a public corporation and may be served by serving its registered agent for service of 

process, CT Corporation, 1999 Bryan St., Suite 900, Dallas, Texas 75201, or wherever it may be 

found.   

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

13. This Court has jurisdiction over this proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 

29 U.S.C. § 2104(a)(5).  

14. This Court has personal jurisdiction over this matter because Tesla is 

headquartered in this District and conducts substantial business operations in this District.     

IV. BACKGROUND AND FACTS 

15. Tesla employs thousands of people across the United States. On information and 

belief, in approximately May or June 2022, Tesla initiated a mass layoff of employees at its sites 

across the country. It has been widely reported in the media that in early June 2022, Tesla’s CEO 

Elon Musk communicated to Tesla’s top executives that Tesla needed to eliminate 10% of its total 
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workforce. 

16. Prior to their terminations, the named Plaintiffs were employed in Tesla’s 

Gigafactory 2 plant in Sparks, Nevada.  

17. On June 10, 2022, Plaintiff Lynch was notified that his employment was being 

terminated effective immediately. Tesla did not provide sixty (60) days advance written notice (or 

any advance notice at all) to Plaintiff Lynch of his impending layoff. 

18. On June 15, 2022, Plaintiff Hartsfield was notified that his employment was being 

terminated effective immediately. Tesla did not provide sixty (60) days advance written notice (or 

any advance notice at all) to Plaintiff Hartsfield of his impending layoff. 

19. Upon information and belief, thousands of other employees working for Tesla 

across the United States have been terminated (collectively, the “Class Members”). In fact, Tesla 

terminated more than 500 employees alone at its Gigafactory 2 plant in Sparks, Nevada where the 

named Plaintiffs were employed.  

20. Plaintiffs bring this action individually, and, pursuant to Rules 23(a) and (b)(3) of 

the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, on behalf of the other members of the Class. 

21. At all relevant times, Tesla has employed 100 or more employees, exclusive of part-

time employees, (i.e., those employees who had worked fewer than 6 of the 12 months prior to the 

date notice was required to be given or who had worked fewer than an average of 20 hours per week 

during the 90 day period prior to the date notice was required to be given) (the “Part-Time 

Employees”), or employed 100 or more employees who in the aggregate worked at least 4,000 

hours per week exclusive of hours of overtime within the United States. 

22. The terminations beginning in approximately May or June 2022, of the employment 
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of persons who worked at the various facilities for Tesla have resulted in the loss of employment 

for more than 500 employees (excluding part-time employees). 

23. Upon information and belief, Plaintiffs and the Class Members have not received 

written notice at least sixty (60) days in advance of the termination of their employment, and have 

not received as much notice as practicable under the circumstances 

 
V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS AND CLAIMS 

24. The above and foregoing paragraphs are incorporated herein as if set forth in full.  

25. Plaintiffs and the Class Members constitute a Class within the meaning of Rules 

23(a) and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. 

26. The Class Members are similarly situated to the Plaintiffs with respect to their 

rights under the WARN Act. 

27. Common questions of law and fact are applicable to all members of the Class. 

28. The common questions of law and fact arise from and concern the following facts, 

among others: 

a. That all Class Members enjoyed the protection of the WARN Act; 

b. That all Class Members have been employees of Tesla and worked at Tesla’s 
facilities; 

c. That Tesla has terminated the employment of all Class Members without cause on 
their part; 

d. That Tesla has terminated the employment of the Class Members without giving 
them at least sixty (60) days prior written notice as required by the WARN Act; 

e. That Tesla has failed to pay the Class Members wages and to provide other 
employee benefits for a 60-day period following their respective terminations; and, 

f. On information and belief, the issues raised by affirmative defenses that may be 
asserted by Tesla. 
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